IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-00420-SCT

JAMES DAVID POOLE

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following list of persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or refusal.

- 1. James David Poole, Appellant
- 2. State of Mississippi, Appellee
- 3. Gary Street Goodwin, Esq., Attorney for Appellant
- 4. Honorable Thomas J. Gardner, III, District 1 Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

APPELLANT'S PROPOSITION NO. 1

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GRANT THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AT THE CLOSE OF ALL THE EVIDENCE, AND FAILED TO GRANT A JUDGMENT OF "NOT GUILTY" NOTWITHSTANDING THE JURY'S VERDICT AS TO COUNT II.

APPELLANT'S PROPOSITION NO. 2

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GRANT THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-00420-SCT

JAMES DAVID POOLE

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James David Poole ("Jim") was indicted at the February 2007 Term of the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi on two (2) counts of statutory rape. Jim was born in 1971. The alleged victim, Zaran Elizabeth Bridges ("Zaran") was born in November 1990. Accordingly, the indictment alleged that Zaran was 36 or more months younger than Jim, and not his spouse, being under the age of fourteen (14) years at the time of the incident alleged in Count I and Count II, and in both instances, Jim was above the age of eighteen (18) years. Count I alleged a statutory rape to have occurred during the month of May 2003, the indictment specifically stating it occurred between May 1 and May 31. Count II alleged a similar statutory rape occurred between October 1, 2000 and September 14, 2002 [Record ("R"), p. 10-11]. Accordingly, Count I was alleged to have been the most recent crime, and Count II was alleged to be the more remote crime. Jim was convicted of the more remote crime alleged in Count II and found not guilty as to the most recent crime [R, p. 57-58; Transcript ("T"), p. 207-213].

Prior to the case being submitted to the jury, Jim moved for a directed verdict on both counts, on the basis that there was an insufficiency of evidence to support a conviction [T, p. 177]. The Court denied the motion. The case was submitted to the jury, and the jury, as stated above, returned a conviction on Count II and an acquittal on Count I. Thereafter, Jim preserved his insufficiency

of evidence question in his Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict [T, p. 213-214]. Jim also coupled this motion with a Motion for a New Trial, which the Court overruled [R, p. 70-73]. The Court then sentenced Jim to a term of 10 years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections, to be followed by 5 years post-release supervision for his conviction on Count II of the indictment. It is from his denial of the post-judgment motions that Jim appeals to this Court. A brief summary of the evidence would be appropriate to an understanding of Jim's complaint that the Court erred as a matter of law in determining the sufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict and that the Court abused its discretion in denying him a new trial.

The first witness called by the State of Mississippi was Bruce Andress. Andress testified that he was a policeman with the Amory Police Department, serving 24 years, and for the last 8 years, serving as an investigator. He first became involved in the investigation regarding Zaran and Jim on January 25, 2005. He became familiar with Jim through his investigation, and learned that his date of birth was November 11, 1971. He identified Jim in the courtroom. Detective Andress learned that Zaran and her mother lived at 100 Eighth Avenue South in Amory, Mississippi in May of 2003. Prior to that time, in 2001 and 2002, they had lived in Wren, Mississippi at 30037 Dryden Lane. Both of these residences were in Monroe County, Mississippi. Jim's relationship with Zaran's mother, Janet, began in 1999 and continued until 2003. Most of that time, they lived in the Wren area, and eventually moved back to Amory. The first incident of alleged statutory rape occurred somewhere during the period of time between 2000 and 2002, and the last incident was in May of 2003. The first incident allegedly occurred when the parties were living on Dryden Lane in Wren. Andress recommended that Zaran and her mother go to a clinic in Mantachie for a forensic interview and counseling. He also reported the matter to the Department of Human Services. However, it was

determined that since Jim was no longer living in the household, DHS never got involved. Andress also stated that he had interviewed Jim, and Jim denied that the acts had occurred [T, p. 61-68].

Janet Bridges was the next witness for the State of Mississippi. She testified that she lived at 100 Eighth Avenue South in Amory, Mississippi. She had one child, Zaran, who was now 18 years old. In 1999, she met Jim while she was living at 103 Meadow Wood Drive North in Amory. She was introduced to him through mutual friends, and personally met him in May of 1999. He moved in with her and Zaran at the end of August, 1999. Zaran was 8 years old at the time. She testified that prior to Jim moving in, Zaran danced, sang, played with friends in the neighborhood and was generally a typical child. Her demeanor or attitude changed after a few months as she seemed to become more shy and withdrawn. She also indicated that there were discipline problems. Janet testified that Zaran was withdrawn toward her, but she appeared to like Jim, and he would play with her on the trampoline and in the swimming pool. Shortly after Jim moved in, his son, Jamie, who is 3 years younger than Zaran, moved in with them. In October of 2000, Jim, Janet, Zaran and Jamie all moved to Wren. Janet worked in Amory, sometimes working until as late as 6:00 or 7:00 p.m. on Friday nights to do payroll, and sometimes having to work on Saturdays. Jim worked at the Ford dealership in Aberdeen, and had set hours. He worked at the Ford dealership until he moved to the Chevrolet dealership in January of 2001. When Janet was away from home working, Zaran would be at school, and after school, someone watched her and Jamie. If Janet could not pick the children up, Jim would. He would also keep them at home while she was away. Janet testified that "a lot of nights" Jim would say he had to go talk to Zaran. This would usually occur around bedtime when Zaran was in her bedroom. At this time, Zaran began to have trouble going to sleep. Janet didn't understand why, since she had not had any troubles previously. The sleep disorder first started when

the parties moved to Wren. Janet testified that she asked Jim what Zaran needed to talk about on those occasions. She stated that he would just say that it was "school and stuff". Janet testified that she honestly did not think anything unnatural was going on, but looking back, she remembered a couple of incidents that should have "thrown up a red sign, but we were a family. We loved each other; we trusted each other. I didn't have any cause at the time to question it. I thought we were a family". Janet testified that her mother had an aneurysm on February 9, 2002, and died on March 3, 2002. During this time, her she and her sister went every night after work, assisting other family members on a rotating basis, to take care of her mother. After her mother died, Jim did not act the same. When Janet would go stay with her mother, Zaran would remain in Wren with Jim and Jamie. Janet testified that after her mother died, Jim began sleeping on the sofa, saying his back hurt. Janet would take prescription medicine and go to sleep. Eventually, Jim told Janet that he was going to leave, and then stated that he would attempt to work it out. Janet found another house in Amory, which is where she lives today. Jim helped her clean it up and fix it. She thought everything was still fine until the Labor Day weekend. Jim went to some kind of race, and when he came back he was a different person. She testified that he stated he was leaving. He was colder toward everyone and did not seem to have the same personality. The Saturday after the first week they spent in the house in Amory, Iim told Janet that he was going for a ride on his motorcycle and didn't come home that night. The next day, he met her at her door with a letter, and told her he was leaving. The relationship ended in September of 2002. After Jim moved out, Zaran's attitude started to change. She became violent towards herself and there was an episode after Jim had moved out where Zaran "went berserk", hitting, kicking and punching. Zaran would have days when she didn't want to go to school, having headaches and rages. Zaran was assessed at Parkwood Hospital in Olive Branch for a period of 2 weeks. She followed up that hospitalization with meeting a doctor once a month, with her medications continually changing. When school started, Zaran told Janet she wasn't going back to "that school". She was then sent to a children's home in Eldridge, Alabama, which was religiously based and supported. Janet would get Zaran once a month. Janet stated that Zaran slowly met new friends, and her personality began to change again. In the Fall of 2004, she finally mentioned on the phone that she needed to tell lanet something. In the phone call, she said something about Jim, and Janet questioned whether he had contacted her there. Zaran told her no. but that she would talk to her mother later. On her next visit, lanet questioned Zaran, and Zaran stated it was okay, and would not tell her anything else. Zaran came home at Christmas of 2004, and has been with Janet ever since. In January of 2005, Janet and Zaran went to WalMart, and as they were pulling in, Zaran threw herself on the floorboard and started crying. She was hysterical and requested her mother take her home, saying "It's him. It's him". When they got home, Zaran told Janet that she had seen Jim's truck, and she then proceeded to tell Janet that "things happened" while Janet was at the hospital with her mother. Janet testified that her next contact was with Bruce Andress at the Amory Police Department when she filed a report and started the investigation [T, p. 69-821.

On cross-examination, Janet admitted that the first time Zaran mentioned this matter was in the Spring of 2004, but that Zaran did not elaborate. Janet stated that the statements made by Zaran left Janet with the impression that Jim was sexually abusing Zaran, but Zaran would not elaborate on it. Janet identified a document as a statement she'd previously given, dated January 25, 2005. She identified a portion of the statement referring to June 2004, when Zaran had allegedly told her on the phone that over a period of time, Jim had begun masturbating on her leg, to fondling,

and then "on to the other". Janet testified that she did not know what "the other" meant, because at the time, Zaran would not tell her. She also admitted that she may have known about the incident earlier, as reflected by her statement. However, she did not take Zaran to a doctor in June of 2004, but rather the Spring of 2005. She stated that this was because Zaran would not talk about it and would not express anything, and was depressed. Janet admitted that she was hurt by Jim leaving the relationship with her. She admitted that she believed they were all a family. After Jim left, Janet continued to have a relationship with Jamie, continuing to see Jamie sometimes twice a month and at Christmas. She also attended Jamie's birthday party the next February after Jim left. lamie and Zaran were also close, like siblings. Two weeks after Iim moved out, a female friend and her two children moved in with him. Janet admitted that Jamie had called from his dad's house and asked if Zaran could come over and eat pizza. Janet discussed it with Candy, Jim's friend and roommate, who approved. Accordingly, Janet dropped Zaran off at Jim's house. After that, Zaran would go over to Jim's house at other times. Although she was not exactly sure, Janet believed Zaran went over to Jim's house to play approximately 3 times. One morning, Zaran was in a rage, and Janet called Jim and asked him to come by and speak to Zaran. Zaran began to go into a rage at Jim. Janet told Jim that she could not discipline Zaran and whipped her. Jim then left. Janet also admitted that from time to time, she would telephone Jim requesting that he talk to Zaran over the phone to help her because Janet could not control her. Janet admitted that Zaran's rages continued after she was discharged from Parkwood and the religious home in Winfield, Alabama. She would not go to school and did not want to be around anyone. She wanted to stay in the house and be left alone, and not go anywhere. She also started cutting herself. Her rages became more violent, and in one of her rages, Zaran jerked a knife up at her mother. Ultimately, Janet took her to Jackson to a facility and had her assessed for approximately 40 days. Janet also testified that there was another incident of violence after Jim left in September of 2002. On October 6, 2002, Zaran was outside and got mad about something and put her hand through a plate glass window, necessitating surgery and therapy. Zaran requested that her mother call Jim, but Jim did not come to the hospital. At Christmas of 2002, Zaran was also in a rage, telling her mother she was mad at Jim. Janet testified that she told Zaran, "Don't beat on me, go beat on him". Despite this, Zaran hit Janet that night. Zaran had stated she was "just so mad at him", referring to Jim. Accordingly, Janet put Zaran in the car and took her over to Jim's house. Jim and Candy came out the door. They stood outside and Janet reiterated the episode to Jim and told Zaran to hit him. Zaran hit Jim two or three times. It was cold outside, and Candy invited everyone inside. Jim took Zaran in another room and talked to her. After a few minutes, Janet went into the room and said, "Come on out". Janet continued to be friends with Jim and Candy, even taking care of Candy's two children while Candy had surgery. Janet and Candy became friends, talking on the phone, and Janet would go over to Candy's house. She specifically remembered an incident when she went to Candy's house to help take care of Candy's little girl, who had a high temperature. Janet admitted that she had known that Jim and Candy had a relationship prior to Janet meeting Jim [T, p. 82-105].

The next witness to testify on behalf of the State was Zaran Elizabeth Bridges. Zaran testified that she was 18 years old, and her birth date was November 18, 1990. She presently lived at 100 Eighth Avenue South in Amory. She was familiar with Jim, and when he lived with her and her mother, she called him either Jim or Daddy. When she first met Jim, she lived at 103 Meadow Wood in Amory, and this occurred around 1998 or 1999, when she was 9 years old. Her mother had begun to date him and Jim would come to the house. At that time, just Zaran and her mother were living

together. She remembered that Jim would come over on the weekends and would often bring Jamie. his son, with him. Jamie was approximately three or four years younger than Zaran. A couple of months after he had been dating her mother, Jim moved in. She testified it was "kind of weird" having another man in her mom's life, but that Jim was okay. She liked Jamie, being an only child and always wanting a brother or sister. She stated that it was nice to have someone to play with. Her first recollection of any inappropriate behavior on Jim's part was when she had a bad dream or nightmare. Iim had been living with them for a few months and Zaran woke up and got in bed with her mom. She stated she felt something in between her legs, and this happened a few more times, too. Her next recollection was in her room in a bunk bed. She remembered being woken up and "a bunch of wrestling around". She remembers there was something on her leg, and Jim told her to go back to bed. She stated this was like a dream or nightmare and that Jim told her it was just imaginary or something, but she remembered wiping something white off her leg. She stated she knows now that it was semen on her leg. During the time period that he would do activities like this, Zaran testified her mother would be sound asleep. She stated Jim told her that the type of things he was doing to her were just normal and that "every father did this". Zaran stated she didn't know the difference because she had never had a father figure. Zaran testified further that approximately six or seven months after Jim met Janet, he got custody of his son, Jamie, and they all moved to Wren. This occurred in 2000. The inappropriate activities continued in Wren. Zaran claimed that they got worse and Jim explained it as "playing". She stated she thought it was normal and had learned to trust him because she thought he was a good guy. When living at 103 Meadow Wood, Zaran said Jim would feel around her breast area and her vagina. When they moved to Wren, he actually started touching her on her vagina with his fingers. Then it proceeded to actual penetration with his fingers. He also began touching her vagina with his penis, just putting the tip of the penis in the vagina. Eventually, he put it all the way in. She stated that it hurt and she remembered a lot of bleeding. When she realized she was bleeding and hurting, she asked him to stop and he would not. She stated that she tried to get away and he would hold her down. She testified that she started to figure out that this was not supposed to be hurting her, and that a father would not hurt her in this manner, and she started saying no and asking him to stop. However, she stated that Jim told her that he had killed somebody before and he told her how he had done so. She stated that he explained to her that if she ever said anything, he would kill her and her mom. She remembered him explaining that he would put something over his hair to keep it from falling out and wear something over his feet and would dispose of the bodies, and take his clothes and anything he had and dump it at a site that burns regularly. Zaran stated that she believed him because he said it so coldly. Zaran testified that he generally did these things after her mother was asleep after taking pills. Her mother worked long hours and if she wasn't at home, then it could happen anywhere in the house. If Jamie was in the house, Jim would turn a lock in Jamie's room, where it locked from the outside. This usually occurred when her mother was home, about 9:30 or 10:00 at night. Zaran testified that they all later moved back to Amory. Jim did not live there for very long because he and her mother split up. She stated that when they first moved back to Amory, Jim would come upstairs to her bedroom and "ask", but she would say no and he would go back downstairs. However, after Jim moved out, she did remember one incident, but did not remember the date. She did remember that it was around May and she was wearing shorts because the weather was warmer. David Vann, a friend of her mom, was visiting with Janet and Zaran on the front porch. Jim came to the house, and David left when Jim pulled up. Jim stated he wanted to see what had been done to the house and to talk to Zaran and Janet. Zaran testified that she did not know why she let Jim in the house, but she remembered showing him the work done on the house. When Jim and Zaran got to her bedroom, she said she didn't remember how she got down, but she was face down and he had her by the hair and was raping her from behind. She stated he was holding her by the hair, face down in the carpet with his penis in her vagina that day. That event being in May of 2003, she would have been 13 years old. This was the last time she remembered Jim doing anything inappropriate, and this was the time that she started having problems, as far as anger issues. In October of that year, she threw her hand through a plate glass window, and required a five hour surgery. She stated she was angry because of the guilt, thinking it was all her fault. She saw him one more time, in a parking lot. She remembered just going to the floorboard and crying because she didn't want him to see her. This occurred after she had been to the children's home in Alabama, and was approximately 2005. She remembered being in the children's home, which had a good Christian environment. She wasn't sure of the dates, but she remembered confessing these matters to her house parent, and her house parent making her tell her mother. She stated she didn't tell her mother everything over the telephone, but just told her things had happened. She came home in July, and said she remembered telling her mom everything that happened after seeing Jim's truck at WalMart and crying on the floorboard. She stated she did not tell her mother any of the things that had happened before because Jim said that he would hurt them. She felt guilty, as though it was her fault, and felt that her mother would not believe her. She testified that she did wish she had told her mother [T, p. 105-118].

On cross-examination, Zaran clarified that she was in the children's home in Alabama from June of 2003 until July of 2004. She had finished her school year at that time, and her mother allowed her to come home. She also clarified that the phone conversation with her mother, in which

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