IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Appellee

٧.

2009-KA-0420-SCT

JAMES DAVID POOLE

Appellant

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

By: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NQ

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: 601.359.3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court correctly denied Poole's Motion for Directed Verdict at the close of the State's evidence and Poole's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Jury's Verdict as to Count II. The evidence clearly established that Poole was more than 36 months older than Zaran that she was younger than 14 when she was raped by Poole. Further, the evidence showed that while Poole lived in the house with Zaran and her mother, he cultivated an inappropriate relationship with Zaran. Janet Bridges testimony also establishes that Zaran and Poole were often alone together during this time period. Bridges testified that Zaran told her about the fondling and then under great stress told her mother about the rapes by Poole. Zaran's testimony establishes that between 1st day of October, 2000 and the 14th day of September, 2002, Poole began fondling her and committing acts of sexual battery by penetrating her vaginal area with his fingers. Zaran's testimony clearly establishes that Poole penetrated her vagina with his penis during that time period. Taking the testimony in the light most favorable to the prosecution, there is sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict of guilty for Count II.

Even the testimony of the defense witness, Dr. Chaney, testified that it was possible that Poole penetrated Zaran with his penis, thus committing rape. Only the slightest penetration is required to sustain a conviction of rape. As to Poole's argument that the two verdicts are inconsistent, since the jury convicted on Count II and acquitted on Count I, inconsistent verdicts do not require reversal. Further, it is not clear that these two verdicts are inconsistent, since a jury is entitled to believe a witnesses testimony in whole or in part, and may have given more credibility to some parts of Zaran's testimony and less to other parts.

The Circuit Court correctly denied Poole's Motion for New Trial. The testimony of Inspector Andress, Janet Bridges and Zaran Bridges overwhelming supports the jury's verdict of guilty in Count II, statutory rape of Zaran Bridges between the occurring between the 1st day of October, 2000 and the 14th day of September, 2002. Testimony of Mrs. Bridges and Zaran established the inappropriate contact by Poole towards Zaran during this time period. Zaran meticulously detailed the progression of the sexual contact from fondling and masturbating to penetration. This testimony was corroborated by her mother's testimony of the changes in Zaran's behavior during this time and her subsequent difficulties with anger and feelings of guilt. Determining the credibility of witness testimony is squarely within the province of the fact-finder and the jury clearly found these witnesses to be credible. Even the defense witness Dr. Chaney could not eliminate the possibility of penetration and bleeding. Even the slightest penetration of Poole's penis into Zaran's labia is enough to the support the verdict of rape. Further, Dr. Chaney's testimony clearly established that sexual contact had occurred, since Zaran's PAP smear was positive for human papilloma virus, which is sexually transmitted. Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the trial court correctly denied Poole's Motion for a New Trial.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I: The Circuit Court correctly denied Poole's Motion for Directed

Verdict at the close of the State's evidence and Poole's Motion for

Judgment Notwithstanding the Jury's Verdict as to Count II.

The standard of review for the denial of a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and a directed verdict are the same. *Gleeton v. State*, 716 So.2d 1083, 1087 (Miss.1998). The standard of review is as follows:

Requests for a directed verdict and motions JNOV implicate the sufficiency of the evidence. The standard of review for the legal sufficiency of the evidence is well-settled:

[W]e must, with respect to each element of the offense, consider all of the evidence-not just the evidence which supports the case for the prosecution-in the light most favorable to the verdict. The credible evidence which is consistent with the guilt must be accepted as true. The prosecution must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. Matters regarding the weight and credibility to be accorded the evidence are to be resolved by the jury. We may reverse only where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty.

Id. (quoting Franklin v. State, 676 So.2d 287, 288 (Miss.1996) (quoting Wetz v. State, 503 So.2d 803, 808 (Miss.1987) (citations omitted)).

The appellate review of a motion for a directed verdict tests the legal sufficiency of the evidence. *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss.2005) (citing *Carr v. State*, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss.1968)). The appellate court must ask whether the evidence shows "beyond a reasonable doubt that [the] accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction." *Id.* (quoting *Carr*, 208 So.2d at 889). Taking the

evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, the question is whether a rational trier of fact could have found all the essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* (citing *Jackson v.* 1 irginia, 443 t. S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)).

The Circuit Court correctly denied Poole's Motion for Directed Verdict at the close of the State's evidence and Poole's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Jury's Verdict as to Count II. The evidence clearly established that Poole was more than 36 months older than Zaran that she was younger than 14 when she was raped by Poole. Further, the evidence showed that while Poole lived in the house with Zaran and her mother, he cultivated an inappropriate relationship with Zaran. Janet Bridges testimony also establishes that Zaran and Poole were often alone together during this time period. Bridges testified that Zaran told her about the fondling and then under great stress told her mother about the rapes by Poole. Zaran's testimony establishes that between 1st day of October, 2000 and the 14th day of September, 2002, Poole began fondling her and committing acts of sexual battery by penetrating her vaginal area with his fingers. Zaran's testimony clearly establishes that Poole penetrated her vagina with his penis during that time period. Taking the testimony in the light most favorable to the prosecution, there is sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict of guilty for Count II.

Even the testimony of the defense witness, Dr. Chaney, testified that it was possible that Poole penetrated Zaran with his penis, thus committing rape. Only the slightest penetration is required to sustain a conviction of rape. As to Poole's argument that the two verdicts are inconsistent, since the jury convicted on Count II and acquitted on Count I, inconsistent verdicts do not require reversal. Further, it is not clear that these two verdicts are inconsistent, since a jury is entitled to believe a witnesses testimony in whole or in part, and may

have given more credibility to some parts of Zaran's testimony and less to other parts.

In <u>Culp v. State</u>, 933 So.2d 264 (Miss, 2005), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that inconsistent verdicts are permissible under the rationale of <u>United States v. Powell</u>, 469 U.S. 57, 65, 69, 105 S.Ct. 471, 476-77, 479, 83 L.Ed.2d 461 (1984). In *Powell*, the United States Supreme Court held:

[I]nconsistent verdicts-even verdicts that acquit on a predicate offense while convicting on the compound offense-should not be interpreted as a windfall to the Government at the defendant's expense. It is equally possible that the jury, convinced of guilt, properly reached its conclusion on the compound offense, and then through mistake, compromise, or lenity, arrived at an inconsistent conclusion on the lesser offense. But in such situations the Government has no recourse if it wishes to correct the jury's error; the Government is precluded from appealing or otherwise upsetting such an acquittal ...

Inconsistent verdicts therefore present a situation where "error," in the sense that the jury has not followed the court's instructions, most certainly has occurred, but it is unclear whose ox has been gored. Given this uncertainty, it is hardly satisfactory to allow the defendant to receive a new trial on the conviction as a matter of course.

... there is no reason to vacate the respondent's conviction merely because the verdicts cannot rationally be reconciled. Respondent is given the benefit of her acquittal on the counts on which she was acquitted, and it is neither irrational nor illogical to require her to accept the burden of her conviction on the counts on which the jury convicted.

United States v. Powell, 469 U.S. 57, 65, 69, 105 S.Ct. 471, 476-77, 479, 83 L.Ed.2d 461 (1984) (citations omitted).

In <u>Hubbard v. State</u>, 938 So.2d 287, 291 (Miss.Ct.App.2006), this Court held that "an inconsistent verdict, in and of itself, is insufficient to reverse a criminal conviction." <u>Chambers v. State</u>, 973 So.2d 266 (Miss.Ct.App.2007) (citing, *Hubbard v. State*, 938 So.2d 287, 291 (Miss.Ct.App.2006)) (citing *George v. State*, 752 So.2d 440, 443 (Miss.Ct.App.1999)).

Poole argues speculatively that the jury must have found Z.B.'s testimony as to the as to Count I, since it returned a verdict of not guilty as to Count I. Poole argues that "given the fact that the jury found her testimony incredible as to Count I. Determining the credibility of witness testimony is squarely within the province of the fact-finder. Curry v. State, 939 So.2d 785 (Miss. 2006) (citing, *Groseclose v. State*, 440 So. 2d 297, 300-01 (Miss. 1983)). On questions of witness testimony, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "[t]he jury determines the weight and credibility to give witness testimony and other evidence." Moore v. State, 933 So.2d 910, 922 (Miss. 2006) (citing Johnson v. State, 904 So. 2d 162, 167 (Miss. 2005)). This Court "may not 'pass upon the credibility of witnesses and, where the evidence justifies a verdict, it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief.' "Id. (quoting Davis v. State, 568 So.2d 277, 281 (Miss, 1990)). As to the credibility of witnesses, this Court in Gathright v. State, 380 So.2d 1276 (Miss. 1980), has held that "in a criminal prosecution the jury may accept the testimony of some witnesses and reject that of others, and that they may accept in part and reject in part the evidence on behalf of the state or on behalf of the accused. In other words, the credibility of witnesses is not for the reviewing court." Gathright, 380 So.2d at 1277 (citing Davis v. State, 320 So.2d 789 (Miss.1975)).

It is well established that the jury has the prerogative to accept or reject, in whole or part, the testimony of any witness, expert or lay. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 925 So.2d 825 (Miss.2006). Stated similarly, the jury may in whole or in part, believe or disbelieve, accept or reject the testimony of any witness. <u>Mather v. State</u>, 799 So.2d 151 (Miss.Ct.App.2001) (citing, *Groseclose v. State*, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss.1983)). In this case, the jury clearly believed Z.B.'s testimony that James Poole raped her during the time period of between the 1st day of October, 2000 and the 14th

day of September, 2002, while Poole was living in the home with Z.B. and her mother, Janet Bridges. It is unclear whether the jury disbelieved Z.B.'s testimony regarding the first count of the indictment, that Poole raped Z.B. during the time period occurring between the 1st day of May, 2003 and the 31st day of May, 2003. Because it is the jury's prerogative to accept or reject, in whole or part, the testimony of any witness, expert or lay, if the jury chose to believe one part of her testimony and not the other, it is not error.

It is possible, as the United States Supreme Court stated in *Powell*, that the jury, convinced of guilt, properly reached its conclusion on the first offense (Count II of the Indictment), and then through mistake, compromise, or lenity, arrived at an inconsistent conclusion on the second offense (Count I of the Indictment). As the Court in *Powell* held, and as Mississippi Courts have held,

... there is no reason to vacate the respondent's conviction merely because the verdicts cannot rationally be reconciled. Respondent is given the benefit of her acquittal on the counts on which she was acquitted, and it is neither irrational nor illogical to require her to accept the burden of her conviction on the counts on which the jury convicted.

United States v. Powell, 469 U.S. 57, 65, 69, 105 S.Ct. 471, 476-77, 479, 83 L.Ed.2d 461 (1984) (citations omitted).

Mississippi courts have held that "any penetration of the labia, no matter how slight, is sufficient to establish the element of 'sexual penetration' in a rape case." *Pryer v. State*, 958

So.2d 818, 823 (Miss.Ct.App.2007) (quoting McGee v. Cuna Mutual Ins. Society, 452 So.2d

438, 440-41 (Miss.1984))(see also, *Jackson v. State*, 452 So.2d 438 (Miss. 1984). Furthermore, Penetration does not need to be established by actual medical evidence. *Wilson v. State*, 606

So.2d 598, 600 (Miss.1992). Additionally, penetration, "need not be proved in any particular

form of words, and circumstantial evidence may suffice." *Lang v. State*, 230 Miss. 147, 158-59, 87 So.2d 265, 268 (1956).

PROPOSITION II: The Circuit Court correctly denied Poole's Motion for New Trial.

A new-trial motion challenges the weight of the evidence. <u>Wilkins v. State</u>, 1 So.3d 850, 854 (Miss.2008). Mississippi Appellate Courts will reverse only if the trial court abused its discretion in denying a motion for new trial. <u>Massey v. State</u>, 992 So.2d 1161, 1164 (Miss.2008). The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated:

When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. <u>Herring v. State</u>, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss, 1997). The evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. <u>Id.</u>

Jones v. State, 904 So.2d 149, 154 (Miss. 2005).

The Circuit Court correctly denied Poole's Motion for New Trial. The testimony of Inspector Andress, Janet Bridges and Zaran Bridges overwhelming supports the jury's verdict of guilty in Count II, statutory rape of Zaran Bridges between the occurring between the 1st day of October, 2000 and the 14th day of September, 2002. Testimony of Mrs. Bridges and Zaran established the inappropriate contact by Poole towards Zaran during this time period. Zaran meticulously detailed the progression of the sexual contact from fondling and masturbating to penetration. This testimony was corroborated by her mother's testimony of the changes in Zaran's behavior during this time and her subsequent difficulties with anger and feelings of guilt. Determining the credibility of witness testimony is squarely within the province of the fact-finder and the jury clearly found these witnesses to be credible. Even the defense witness Dr. Chaney could not eliminate the possibility of penetration and bleeding. Even the slightest penetration of

Poole's penis into Zaran's labia is enough to the support the verdict of rape. Further, Dr. Chaney's testimony clearly established that sexual contact had occurred, since Zaran's PAP smear was positive for human papilloma virus, which is sexually transmitted. Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the trial court correctly denied Poole's Motion for a New Trial.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, the Appellant's assignments of error are without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be upheld.